UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-4-2012

BV Beverage Co., LLC v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39690

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This case involves the expiration by operation of law of BV Beverage Company Inc.'s ("BV Beverage") owner/lessor's interest in an Idaho state liquor license. The Idaho Alcohol Beverage Control ("ABC" or the "Agency") takes the position that BV Beverage's interest in the license expired by operation of law because the lessee of the license ("Iggy's") failed to timely renew. BV Beverage argues the "expiration by operation of law" of its owner/lessor's interest in the liquor license is unconstitutional because the Agency improperly treats an owner/lessor of a liquor license as a stranger to the license and does not afford an owner/lessor the opportunity to renew its interest in a liquor license. Expiration of BV Beverage's procedural due process rights.

B. Course of Proceedings on BV Beverage's Petition for Judicial Review and the ABC's Petition to Dismiss.

At the District Court, BV Beverage argued that as the owner/lessor of an Idaho state liquor license it had a constitutionally protected property right in the license and that this right necessarily encompassed the right to renew the license. BV Beverage then argued that the renewal procedures in place with the ABC do not afford an owner/lessor the opportunity to renew the license in its own right, but instead treat such owner/lessor as a stranger to the license by requiring it to re-transfer the license in order to exercise the right to renew.

The District Court, the Honorable Mike Wetherell presiding, agreed that BV Beverage had an interest in the liquor license and was entitled to due process protections. The District Court then ruled that because BV Beverage had notice of the expiration date of liquor licenses and presented no evidence that it took any affirmative action to discover whether the at-issue license had been renewed, BV Beverage's failure to seek the opportunity to renew its license establishes that BV Beverage's due process rights were not violated. On this basis, the District Court denied BV Beverage's petition for judicial review on the merits. BV Beverage appeals that portion of the District Court's decision that shifted the onus of constitutional protections from the state having the duty to provide constitutional protections, placing it instead on the owner/lessor having the burden to preemptively identify and work within procedural shortfalls as a precondition to alleging constitutional inadequacies.

The proceedings at the District Court also involved the ABC's motion to dismiss. On its motion to dismiss, the ABC argued that (i) this was not a contested case and, therefore, not subject to judicial review, (ii) that BV Beverage was a "third-party lessor" and not an aggrieved person within the meaning of section 67-5270, and (iii) that there was no agency action for the District Court to review. Of these arguments, the District Court rejected the first two and agreed with the third. BV Beverage appeals from that portion of the District Court's order that holds that an agency's failure to enact constitutionally adequate safeguards is properly characterized as "inaction" that is not subject to judicial review.

C. Concise Statement of Facts

1. Overview of Idaho's Liquor Licensing Procedures

Idaho state liquor licenses are issued for terms of one-year. They are renewed as a matter of course if the applicant is in good standing and timely submits the renewal application and a proper fee. I.C. § 23-908.

It is the director's statutory duty to promulgate forms regarding liquor licensing procedures. I.C. § 23-932; IDAPA 11.05.01.00. This has been interpreted to include and does include the forms for renewing a liquor license. IDAPA 11.05.01.12. The director has delegated this statutory duty to the Agency. IDAPA 11.05.01.11.02.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 2

Several of the forms are available on the Agency's website, which any member of the public may access at any time. *See* http://www.isp.idaho.gov/abc/. However, the renewal application is a customized form that is not available to anyone other than the named licensee. *See id.* The Agency mails the renewal applications to only the named licensee two months prior to the renewal deadline. *See* IDAPA 11.05.01.11.03. If someone other than a named licensee (including an owner/lessor) wishes to renew the license in conjunction with the transfer of a license, he must submit a transfer of the right to renew paperwork. IDAPA 11.05.01.12.03.

By law, Idaho state liquor licenses can be transferred by sale, lease, and other commercially recognized methods. I.C. § 23-908(5)-(6). When transferred by sale, the transferee must submit a bill of sale and pay a transfer fee of 10% of the purchase price. I.C. § 23-908(5). The transferor must also submit an application and undergo the scrutiny of the Director to determine the applicant's fitness to hold an Idaho state liquor license. I.C. § 23-908(2).

When a liquor license is transferred by lease, both the owner (lessor) and the licensee (lessee) transfer fee submit must and an application. See pay а http://www.isp.idaho.gov/abc/documents/LiquorLicenseApplication 000.pdf. The lessor and lessee must include with each application the lease agreement, which is to govern the lease arrangement respecting the liquor license. Id. The Agency must review and approve this lease agreement. Id.; I.C. § 23-908(2).

Notwithstanding the statutorily approved transfer by lease, once a license is issued pursuant to such lease, the Agency takes the position that the owner/lessor has no interest in the license vis-à-vis the state and that the state is not required to afford the owner of the license any safeguards and protections respecting its interest in the license. Rather, in order to be recognized by the Agency, the owner/lessor of the license must submit a new transfer application and the requisite fee and have the license transferred back into its name. Until the license is transferred back to the owner/lessor, the Agency takes the position that the owner/lessor is not entitled to notice of any adverse actions taken against the license and is not entitled to receive an application to renew the license.

If the lessee fails to timely renew the license, the Agency takes the position that the license expired, by operation of law, as against both the lessor and lessee, and thereafter refuses to recognize any interest in the license. *See* R. Vol. I, pp. 58-68. Under this procedure, the property rights of the lessor have no constitutional protections and the lessor must rely exclusively on contract rights it holds with its lessee.

2. Facts specific to this case

BV Beverage owns liquor license number 4314 (the license). R. Vol. I, pp. 76-89; R. Vol. I, pp. 56-57. During its normal course of business, BV Beverage leased the license to Iggy's Idaho Falls, Inc. R. Vol. I, pp. 23-30. This lease was reviewed and approved by Defendant Idaho State Police/Alcohol Beverage Control, who then transferred license number 4314 to Iggy's. R. Vol. I, pp. 31-46.

On or about July 30, 2010, ABC sent Iggy's a renewal application for the license, but this was returned to ABC. R. Vol. I, pp. 49-52. ABC did not send a copy of this renewal application to BV Beverage. R. Vol. I, pp. 90-108.

On or about September 24, 2010, BV Beverage learned that the Agency had initiated revocation proceedings against Iggy's for Iggy's failure to keep the license in "actual use" as required by IDAPA 11.05.01.10.02. BV Beverage immediately contacted the Agency and

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 4

expressed concern that it had not been notified of the revocation proceedings. R. Vol. I, pp. 83-85.

BV Beverage then conducted a telephone conference with the Agency, who agreed to allow BV Beverage additional time to transfer the license to another lessee and further promised that it would not take any adverse action regarding the license during that time. R. Vol. I, pp. 86-89. The Agency also agreed that once the license had been transferred, it would dismiss the complaint for revocation. R. Vol. I, pp. 88-89. The Agency did not inform BV Beverage that the renewal paperwork sent to Iggy's had been returned as undeliverable (R. Vol. I, pp. 90-108), nor did it provide a renewal application to BV Beverage.

In reliance on the Agency's representations that BV Beverage could have an opportunity time to find a new lessee, BV beverage continued negotiating with another national restaurant chain as a potential lessee. R. Vol. I, pp. 90-115. It then submitted transfer application paperwork to the Agency on or about January 7, 2011. R. Vol. I, pp. 53-55. On or about January 10, 2011, the Agency rejected BV Beverage's transfer application on the grounds that the license had not been timely renewed and, therefore, expired by operation of law. R. Vol. I, pp. 58-68; R. Vol. I, pp. 86-115.

BV then began informal proceedings to resolve this matter. R. Vol. I, pp. 90-125. When it was unable to resolve the matter informally, BV Beverage filed a petition for judicial review.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the District Court erred in finding that no due process violation occurred because the owner/lessor did not take affirmative steps to use the existing renewal procedures when it is undisputed that the Agency will not allow an owner/lessor to use existing renewal procedures.
- B. Whether the District Court erred in dismissing the petition for judicial review on the grounds that the Agency was not under a legal duty to take any action before first determining whether the Agency should have been under a legal duty.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's conclusions of law *de novo*. *Fuchs v. Idaho State Police*, ____ Idaho ___, ___, 272 P.3d 1257, 1260 (*6) (2012) (citing *Maresh v. State Dept. of Heath & Welfare ex rel Caballero*, 132 Idaho 221, 224, 970 P.2d 14, 17 (1998)). Additionally, "the constitutionality of a statute or administrative regulation is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review." *Id* (citing *Wanner v. State, Dept. of Transp.*, 150 Idaho 164, 167, 244 P.3d 1250, 1253 (2011); *Am. Falls Res. Dist. No. 2 v. Idaho Dep't of Water Res.*, 143 Idaho 862, 869, 154 P.3d 433, 440 (2007)).

Thus, under a *de novo* standard: the [appellate] court shall affirm the agency's action unless the agency's decision was: (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; (c) made upon unlawful procedure; (d) not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or (e) arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. I.C. § 67-5279(3). In addition to proving one of the enumerated statutory grounds for overturning an agency action, the challenging party must also show prejudice to a substantial right. I.C. § 67-5279(4); *Laughy v. Idaho Dep't of Transp.*, 149 Idaho 867, 869-70, 243 P.3d 1055, 1057-58 (2010).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court's finding that no due process violation occurred improperly shifted the burden on BV Beverage, as owner/lessor of the liquor license, to take actions which would have been a nullity under the existing system.

Both the United States Constitution and the Idaho Constitution provide that the State shall not deprive "any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Idaho Const. art. 1, § 13. Determining procedural due process rights involves a two-step analysis: first, determining whether a governmental decision deprived an individual of a liberty or property interest within the meaning of the due process clause, and second, if a liberty or property interest is implicated determining what process is due. *Thompson Creek Mining Co. v. Idaho Dep't of Water Res.*, 148 Idaho 200, 213, 220 P.3d 318, 331 (2009) (citing *State v. Rogers*, 144 Idaho 738, 740, 170 P.3d 881, 883 (2007) (*citing Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 333-35 (1976)).

After determining that BV Beverage did have a protectable property interest in the liquor license, the District Court did not determine what process was due. Rather, the District Court faulted BV Beverage for failing to seek out an opportunity to renew under existing procedures. However, it is undisputed that as an owner/lessor BV Beverage would not be allowed to renew under existing procedures. Accordingly, in its analysis, the District Court erred by shifting the duty of providing constitutional protections from the ABC and instead placing upon the owner/lessor the burden of taking actions which would have been a nullity under existing law.

Because it is the state's duty to provide due process protections, the District Court's failure to analyze the constitutional adequacy of the existing procedures regarding renewal of owner/lessor's interests in liquor licenses was error and the decision entered should be reversed.

1. Because the processes for renewal that are available to the licensee are not similarly available to an owner/lessor, BV Beverage's notice of such processes is irrelevant and the District Court's reliance on such notice was error.

BV Beverage concedes that it had actual notice of the renewal dates of a liquor license. BV Beverage also concedes, as noted in the Order Dismissing Petition for Review, that it did not inquire as to the renewal status of its liquor license from either its lessee or the ABC. However, neither of these facts has bearing on the procedural due process analysis before this Court because neither speaks directly to constitutionally adequate notice that the Agency was required to give to BV Beverage. Contrary to the District Court's observations, the notice element of the due process analysis is not notice of a procedure that someone else may invoke to protect their property rights. Rather, the notice required is notice of a procedure that the holder of the right (in this case, BV Beverage) could have taken to protect its own property right in the license. As noted by one court:

Notice without opportunity to be heard would be a vain thing. The office of notice is to afford an opportunity for a hearing, and the two must necessarily go together. There can be no due process of law without a fair and reasonable opportunity for a hearing on the matter in dispute.

Simpson v. Stanton, 193 S.E. 64, 67 (W. Va. 1937). The notice that BV Beverage may have had and upon which the District Court relied was notice of the renewal procedures and deadlines available to the lessee—not procedures that were available to BV Beverage, the owner/lessor. In the present matter, the gravamen of BV Beverage's claims is that owner/lessors of a liquor license are not given an opportunity to renew their interest in their liquor license. Because this opportunity does not exist, it is logically impossible for BV Beverage to have received notice of its right to exercise such non-existent opportunity.

Because BV Beverage, as owner/lessor, cannot utilize the existing renewal procedures, the fact that BV Beverage had notice of such procedures and deadlines is legally irrelevant. If the Agency did not afford BV Beverage the opportunity to renew the license in its own right, notice of the status of the license and the opportunity to renew that was available to its lessee (but not to BV Beverage) does not satisfy constitutional due process standards.

2. The District Court improperly required BV Beverage to show that it attempted to utilize the constitutionally inadequate procedures as a precondition for asserting that such procedures were constitutionally inadequate.

Following from its conclusion that BV Beverage had actual notice of renewal deadlines, the District Court faulted BV Beverage for failing to seek the opportunity to renew—a right that is available only to a lessee under existing procedures. It is undisputed that, as an owner/lessor, BV Beverage would have been denied the right to renew under existing procedures. Accordingly, the District Court's decision places the burden on an owner/lessor to work within a constitutionally inadequate system as a pre-condition to challenging the constitutionality of such system.¹ Because the Agency has a constitutional duty to enact procedures that protect the property rights of all persons holding an interest in a liquor license, the District Court erred by shifting to BV Beverage the burden of attempting to accomplish something that could not be done pursuant to the existing system.

a. The ABC has a constitutional duty to provide owner/lessors of a liquor license with the opportunity to renew their interest in such license.

The Agency argues that it is not responsible for the expiration of BV Beverage's liquor license because it took no affirmative action to cause such result. However, the constitutional violation alleged is that the Agency failed to take required action—implementing procedures that afford owner/lessor's the opportunity to renew—that resulted in the expiration of BV Beverage's liquor license.

¹ Under the District Court's decision, the owner/lessor is trapped within an inescapable Catch-22 where the unconstitutional system will never be subject to judicial review. If the owner/lessor is injured by the constitutionally inadequate system, it is faulted for not trying to work within the inadequate system, and denied review of the constitutional inadequacies. If the owner/lessor meets the precondition of attempting to work within the constitutionally inadequate system and is successful, then the owner/lessor will not be aggrieved and will not have a ripe case upon which the system can be challenged.

The State has created a marketplace for the exchange of liquor licenses by lease. In so doing, it has created a real and valuable property right in an owner/lessor's interest in a state liquor license. Because the State has created this property right, it has a constitutional duty to provide minimum protections and safeguards required by the due process clause of the Idaho Constitution and United States Constitution before such property right can be taken—even if the taking occurs by operation of law. Accordingly, this Court must reject the ABC's argument that its failure to enact procedural safeguards is free from review because, at the end of the day, inaction resulted in the unconstitutional taking:

Each of our due process cases has recognized, either explicitly or implicitly, that because <u>"minimum [procedura]] requirements</u> [are] a matter of federal law, they are not diminished by the fact that the State may have specified its own procedures that it may deem adequate for determining the preconditions to adverse official actions." (citations omitted). Indeed, any other conclusion would allow the State to destroy at will virtually any state-created property interest. The Court has considered and rejected such an approach: "While the legislature may elect not to confer a property interest, ... it may not constitutionally authorize the deprivation of such an interest, once conferred, without appropriate procedural safeguards.... [T]he adequacy of statutory procedures for deprivation of a statutorily created property interest must be analyzed in constitutional terms."

Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. 422, 432 (1982) (emphasis added). Idaho's own due

process jurisprudence recognizes the need for the same type of procedural safeguards:

Due process of law is not necessarily satisfied by any process which the legislature may by law provide, but by such process only as safeguards and protects the fundamental, constitutional rights of the citizen. Where the state confers a license upon an individual to practice a profession, trade or occupation, such license becomes a valuable personal right which cannot be denied or abridged in any manner except after due notice and a fair and impartial hearing before an unbiased tribunal.

Abrams v. Jones, 35 Idaho 532, 546, 207 P. 724, 727 (1922).

The Supreme Court of the United States explained in *Logan* that where the established state system itself deprives the claimant of his constitutional rights by operation of law, such system is unconstitutional. *Logan*, 455 U.S. at 432. In *Logan*, a state agency's failure to take action within the statutory timeframes caused a claimant to be deprived of his constitutional rights. *See, generally, id.* There, an employee had the right to file claim respecting employment discrimination, but under established state procedure, a pre-requisite to filing a claim was for the fair employment practices commission to initiate an investigation within 120 days of the incident. *Id.*, at 424. The commission failed to timely commence the investigation and then refused to allow the employee to file a claim. *Id.*, at 426. The trial court held that the commission's failure to timely institute the investigation deprived the claimant of the right to bring his claim as a matter of law. *Id.*, at 436. The Supreme Court of the United States disagreed and found that "it [was] the state system itself that destroys a complainant's property interest, by operation of law" and held the system to be unconstitutional. *Id.*, at 436-38.

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