# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-2-2012

# BV Beverage Co., LLC v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39690

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

#### V. ARGUMENT AND ANALYSIS

A. Does a party, who in essence claims a portion of a statute to be unconstitutional or constitutionally deficient, because it allegedly deprives a third-party lessor of due process, have the burden of proving the statute unconstitutional?

BV alleges that when the district court found there was no due process violation, that the court improperly shifted the burden onto BV to prove its claim, as a third-party lessor, that the statutes and rules guiding liquor license renewal were either unconstitutional or constitutionally

deficient. Appellant's Brief, p. 6.

"The general rule is that the party challenging a statute on constitutional grounds "must overcome a strong presumption of validity." *Aberdeen-Springfield Canal Co. v. Peiper*, 133 Idaho 82, 982 P.2d 917 (1999), *citing State v. Avelar*, 129 Idaho 700, 703, 931 P.2d 1218, 1221 (1997); *see also Olsen v. J.A. Freeman Co.*, 117 Idaho 706, 709, 791 P.2d 1285, 1288 (1990).

BV essentially claims that ABC infringed upon or violated BV's procedural due process when ABC failed to give notice to BV of the privilege to renew Liquor License Number 4314. The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment "prohibits deprivation of life, liberty, or property without 'fundamental fairness' through governmental conduct that offends the community's sense of justice, decency and fair play." *Maresh v. State of Idaho Dep't of Health and Welfare*, 132 Idaho 221, 225-26, 970 P.2d 14, 19-20 (1998) *citing Moran v. Burbine*, 475 U.S. 412, 432-34, 106 S. Ct. 1135, 1146-47, 89 L.Ed.2d 410, 428-29 (1986). Procedural due process pertains to the minimal requirements of notice and hearing, if the deprivation of a significant life, liberty, or property interest could occur.

A deprivation of property encompasses claims where there is a legitimate claim or entitlement to the asserted benefit under either state or federal law. *See Id. citing Board of Regents v. Roth,* 408 U.S. 564, 569, 92 S. Ct. 2701, 2705, 33 L.Ed.2d 548, 556 (1972). The minimal requirements are that "there must be some process to ensure that the individual is not arbitrarily deprived of his rights in violation of the state or federal constitutions. This requirement is met when the defendant is provided with notice and an opportunity to be heard." *Aberdeen-Springfield Canal Co.,* 133 Idaho at 91, 982 P.2d at 926, *citing State v. Rhoades,* 121

Idaho 63, 72, 822 P.2d 960, 969 (1991); see also A.E. "Ed" Fridenstine v. Idaho Dep't of Administration, 133 Idaho 188, 983 P.2d 842 (1999).

#### This Court has stated

To determine whether an individual's due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment have been violated, courts must engage in a two-step analysis. The Court must first decide whether the individual's threatened interest is a liberty or property interest under the Fourteenth Amendment. See Maresh, 132 Idaho at 226, 970 P.2d at 19, citing Schevers v. State, 129 Idaho 573, 575, 930 P.2d 603, 605 (1996) (citations omitted); see also True v. Dep't of Health and Welfare, 103 Idaho 151, 645 P.2d 891 (1982), citing Goss v. Lopez, 419 U.S. 565, 95 S.Ct. 729, 42 L.Ed.2d 725 (1975). [Then] Only after a court finds a liberty or property interest will it reach the next step of analysis in which it determines what process is due. See Maresh, 132 Idaho at 226, 970 P.2d at 19, citing Schevers 129 Idaho at 575, 930 P.2d at 605.

Moreover, this Court has also stated, the "determination of whether a property interest exists can be determined only by an examination of the particular statute, rule or ordinance in question." *See Ferguson v. Board of Trustees of Bonner County Sch.*, 98 Idaho 359, 564 P.2d 971, 975 (1977), *citing Bishop v. Wood*, 426 U.S. 341, 96 S. Ct. 2074, 48 L.Ed.2d 684 (1976) ("Determination of whether a particular right or privilege is a property interest is a matter of state law."). The existence of a liberty or property interest depends on the "construction of the relevant statutes," and the "nature of the interest at stake." *Maresh*, 132 Idaho at 226, 970 P.2d at 19, *citing True*, 103 Idaho at 154, 645 P.2d 891 (citations omitted). The procedural protection of property guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment "is a safeguard of the security of interests that a person has already acquired in specific benefits." *Maresh*, 132 Idaho at 226, 970 P.2d at 19, *citing Roth*, 408 U.S. at 576, 92 S. Ct. at 2708, 33 L.Ed.2d at 560.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

In this case, BV claims it holds a sufficient property interest in Liquor License Number 4314 that would require procedural dues process protections. BV's argument is unpersuasive in light of this Court's long history of rulings that no property right attaches to a liquor license.

Beginning with the United States Constitution, which states in relevant part that "[t]he transportation or importation into any state, territory, or possession of the United States for delivery or use therein of intoxicating liquors, in violation of the laws thereof, is hereby prohibited." U.S. Const. amend. XXI, § 2.

Likewise, the Idaho Constitution states in relevant part that "the legislature of the state of Idaho shall have full power and authority to permit, control and regulate or prohibit the manufacture, sale, keeping for sale, and transportation for sale, of intoxicating liquors for beverage purposes." Idaho Const. art. III, § 26. Since this section in Idaho's constitution gives "the Legislature full power and authority to regulate intoxicating liquor for beverage purposes, the judicial department of the State may not deprive it of such power." *See*, *Taylor v. State*, 62 Idaho 212, 219, 109 P.2d 879, 881 (1941).

BV's assertion that it has a protected property right or interest in the business of selling alcohol gives rise to such a deprivation and would, if given effect, violate both the United States and Idaho constitutions.

This Court has long held

Instead of a protected property right, [a] liquor license is simply the grant or permission under governmental authority to the licensee to engage in the business of selling liquor. Such a license is a temporary permit to do that which would otherwise be unlawful; it is a privilege rather than a natural right and is personal to the licensee; it is neither a right of property

nor a contract, or a contract right. BHA Invs., Inc., 138 Idaho at 354-55, 63 P.3d at 480-81 (quoting Nampa Lodge No. 1389, Benev. and P.O. of E. of U.S. v. Smylie, 71 Idaho 212, 215-16, 229 P.2d 991, 993 (1951)). "[T]hus one who procures a state ... license takes it subject to the provisions of the statute under which the license is granted." Nampa Lodge, 71 Idaho at 216, 229 P.2d at 993.

The public policy reasons for such regulation is found in IDAHO CODE § 23-102. It states:

This act is passed in the exercise of the police power of the state. It is not designed to abridge the personal privilege of a responsible adult to consume alcoholic liquor as a beverage, except in cases of the abuse of that privilege to the detriment of others. The public interest requires that traffic in alcoholic liquor be regulated and controlled by the state, through the medium of a state liquor division vested with exclusive authority to import and sell such liquor, with certain exceptions, which are subject to its regulation.

This Court has similarly recognized that "the selling of intoxicating liquor is a proper subject for control and regulation under the police power." *Gartland v. Talbott*, 72 Idaho 125, 131, 237 P.2d 1067, 1070 (1951). In other words, "[i]t is ... universally accepted that no one has an inherent or constitutional right to engage in the business of selling or dealing in intoxicating liquors." *Id.* 

BV's argument that ABC's licensing of alcoholic beverages is merely ministerial misses the mark. Appellant's Brief p. 13, section 2(b.). BV fails to recognize that licensing requirements go hand-in-hand with the actual privilege to sell alcohol. Without proper approval, vis-à-vis the state's police powers, a license to sell alcohol will not be granted nor can any such sales be made legally.

As noted above, IDAHO CODE § 23-908, places restrictions upon how a licensee may renew a liquor license. It does not address how a third-party lessor may do this since a third-

party lessor is not the person or entity approved to engage in the actual sale of alcohol. The symbiotic relationship between the licensing and sale of alcoholic beverages is further found in IDAHO CODE §§ 23-905 and 23-907. It provides, among other things and in relevant part, that an applicant wishing to become a licensee must submit to an investigation. This investigation includes a background check and fingerprinting. The third-party lessor is not subject to these same statutory requirements.

The clear reason for such requirements was presented in a similar case involving another third-party lessor, who had also leased its liquor license to a lessee. In *Uptick Corp. v. Ahlin*, 103 Idaho 364, 368-369, 647 P. 2d 1236, 1240-1241 (1982), the Court stated,

Only after investigation of the applicant and a determination that the contents of the application are true, that the applicant is qualified and that the premises are suitable, may the director, in his discretion, issue a license. I.C. § 23-907. This application procedure and the procedure to be followed in transferring liquor licenses, *see* I.C. § 23-908, makes it clear that the legislature painstakingly attempted to ensure that the department have complete control over who may own a liquor license, and that only persons who could be depended upon to advance the policies of the act were entitled to a license.

If one looks at the overall scheme of the Idaho Liquor Act found in Title 23, all responsibilities, to comply with the laws and regulations of the sale of alcohol, fall squarely on the shoulders of a licensee. There is even a statute that directly affects whether or not a licensee (not a third-party lessor) may continue to engage in business as a retail seller of alcohol. Such a directive is found in IDAHO CODE § 23-933, which states in relevant part that:

(1) The director may suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew a license issued pursuant to the terms of this chapter for any violation of or failure to comply with the provisions of this chapter or rules and

regulations promulgated by the director or the state tax commission pursuant to the terms and conditions of this chapter.

It is clear, when the State grants a licensee the privilege of selling alcohol, it is the licensee that must accept the limitations on that privilege as set out in IDAHO CODE § 23-908, and not the third-party lessor.

BV's claim that it possesses a property interest that gives rise to due process is unpersuasive and is insufficient as to impose protections of the Fourteenth Amendment. ABC respectfully requests this Court to rule that a lessor of a liquor license, who in essence claims a portion of a statute to be unconstitutional or constitutionally deficient, because it allegedly deprives it of due process, has the burden of proving as much.

B. Does ABC have the statutory authority to act outside the scope of IDAHO CODE § 23-908, and its contemporaneous rules, by recognizing that someone other than the liquor licensee is able to exercise the privileges associated with a liquor license, including the right to renew?

The answer to this question is plain and simple, no. This is because IDAHO CODE § 23-908 is plainly written to indicate who must comply with the law. It states in relevant part,

[N]o person except the licensee therein named except as herein otherwise provided, shall exercise any of the privileges granted thereunder... any licensee holding a valid license who fails to file an application for renewal of his current license on or before the first day of the designated renewal month shall have a grace period of an additional thirty-one (31) days in which to file an application for renewal of the license. [Emphasis added]

BV essentially argues that when the legislature passed a law allowing for the transfer of a liquor license, that an implied third-party property right or interest was created in that license by

the state. Appellant's Brief p. 9, Section 2.(a.). BV argued this same point below, and the district court agreed, that BV as a third-party had some form of property interest in a liquor license because of a third-party lessor's statutory ability to transfer a liquor license to a lessee. R. pp. 343-344.

However, the district court and BV's interpretation incorrectly ignores the unambiguous legislative mandates that, it is the licensee's sole duty to renew its liquor license pursuant to IDAHO CODE § 23-908(1). Had the legislature expressly intended for a third-party lessor to have such a property interest in a license renewal, the legislature would have expressly amended this statute accordingly. However, IDAHO CODE § 23-908(1) is expressly silent on this issue.

This Court has stated, where a statute has been amended, the legislature has not created the new law in a vacuum. *See*, *Nampa Lodge 1389*, *Benev. and P.O.E. of U.S. v. Smylie*, at 219, stating, it is generally presumed that the legislature in the enactment of a statute consulted earlier acts on the same subject matter and this is so even though the earlier statutes have expired or have been repealed. 50 Am. Jur. Sec. 354, p. 356.

Moreover, this Court has consistently held,

If the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, the court need merely apply the statute without engaging in any statutory construction. Wolfe v. Farm Bureau Ins. Co., 128 Idaho 398, 404, 913 P.2d 1168, 1174 (1996); State v. Mccoy, 128 Idaho 362, 365, 913 P.2d 578, 581 (1996); Kootenai Elec. Co-op. v. Washington Water Power Co., 127 Idaho 432, 435, 901 P.2d 1333, 1336 (1995); Ada County Assessor v. Roman Catholic Diocese of Boise, 123 Idaho 425, 428, 849 P.2d 98, 101 (1993); Ottesen on Behalf of Edwards v. Board of Comm'rs of Madison County, 107 Idaho 1099, 1100, 695 P.2d 1238, 1239 (1985). Statutory interpretation begins with the words of the statute, giving the language its plain, obvious, and rational meanings. Wolfe, 128 Idaho at 404, 913 P.2d at 1174; See Grand Canyon

Dories v. Idaho State Tax Comm'n, 124 Idaho 1, 5, 855 p.2d 462, 466 (1993); Nelson By and Through Nelson v. City of Rupert, 128 Idaho 199, 201, 911 P.2d 1111, 1113 (1996).

In this instance, no statutory construction is required to determine if actual notice of renewal is due to a lessor. There is also no hint of implication of notice allegedly due to a lessor.

The very nature of the Title 23's statutory scheme and its language provides an unambiguous picture that only a licensee is to be regulated by ABC (not a lessor). If this Court were to rule that a third-party lessor was also within ABC's scope of regulation, such a ruling would create an absurd result and would also amount to something other than properly enacted legislation.

BV may assert that there is some significance in the fact that *Uptick v. Ahlin* was decided before the actual statutory allowance of a transfer of a liquor license was passed. Such an assertion is still immaterial when one views the underlying facts of *Uptick*. Like this instant case, the *Uptick* Court acknowledged the fact that transfers were also occurring at the time as between a third-party lessor and a lessee. In spite of this fact, the Court still held that any remedy sought by a lessor against the state, was nonexistent. *Uptick* at 370.

The holding in *Uptick*, is still valid case law today, for many statutory and practical reasons. *See*, R. pp. 245-248 and 291-296. ABC respectfully requests this Court to apply the reasoning it set forth in *Uptick v. Ahlin*, 103 Idaho at 369, in this appeal. Therein this Court held

[T]he personal nature of the privilege to sell liquor by the drink can most clearly be seen upon reading I.C. § 23-908, which states in pertinent part that, "(e)very license issued under the provisions of this act is separate and distinct and no person except the licensee therein named except as herein otherwise provided shall exercise any of the privileges granted

thereunder." (Emphasis added.) The right to renew is included among the privileges appurtenant to a liquor license and is a privilege which is to be exercised exclusively by the named licensee. To hold otherwise would enable persons who have not subjected themselves to the scrutiny and approval of the director of the Department of Law Enforcement to acquire an interest in a license and circumvent the policy of the act that only qualified persons own licenses and exercise rights thereunder.

While BV was the licensee for a very short period of time during BV's initial transfer of this license from Donna Rice to itself, R. pp. 299-300. BV, upon applying for Liquor License Number 4314, almost immediately turned around and leased the license to Iggy's of Idaho Falls (the lessee). R. at 24-46. In reality, it was Iggy's that actually exercised the privilege to sell liquor as the licensee of Liquor License Number 4314 for a number of years and not BV. *Id.* Like the Ahlins in *Uptick*, BV was an entity that did not actually engage in the business to exercise the privileges of Liquor License Number 4314, as a licensee. R. pp. 291-296, 299-300.

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